Supreme Court of California Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court Electronically FILED on 10/30/2020 by M. Chang, Deputy Clerk

Case No. S263569

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

MICKEY SEGAL, and SIZE IT, LLC,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

ASICS AMERICA CORPORATION, ASICS CORPORATION, KEVIN WULFF, KENJI SAKAI, MOTOI OYAMA, and KATSUMI KATO,

Defendants and Respondents.

Appeal from the Court of Appeal, Second District, Division Four, Case No. B299184 Los Angeles Superior Court, Case No. BC597769 Honorable Elizabeth Allen White

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

GREENSPOON MARDER LLP

ISSUE PRESENTED

May a party recover costs for preparing multiple sets of trial exhibits and closing slides that were not used at trial?

INTRODUCTION

A party should not be allowed to recover costs at the conclusion of a trial for copies of exhibits and demonstratives that were not shown to the jury or admitted into evidence. This is especially true when the overwhelming majority of the proposed closing slide-deck was not shown to the jury because it was actively excluded by the trial court. Moreover, allowing a prevailing party to recover costs associated with pre-marked exhibits that were not shown to the jury or entered into evidence—does nothing but incentivize over-litigation and weaponize costs on the eve of trial. Similarly, given the standard practice of plaintiff use "x" range and defendant use "y" range, it now places an unnecessary burden on the parties to police what gets marked by whom on the eve of trial. This will undoubtedly lead to unnecessary motion practice concerning a parties' over-designation of materials that will further burden the trial court

At its core, the Code and court procedure are designed to encourage parties to work efficiently and effectively at narrowing the issues, exhibits, and witnesses in preparation for trial. Not only does that help the presentation to the jury, it also decreases court delays, motion practices and the length of trials in an over-burdened court system (not to mention the

1

effect that the current global pandemic will take and continue to take on the court system).

By affirming the trial court's judgment that allowed the recovery of these litigation costs, the Court of Appeal blessed over-lawyering litigation tactics by shifting certain costs to plaintiffs and blessing those tactics and accommodations borne out of convenience rather than necessity, which are required by the Code. While there is an existing California circuit split concerning the recoverability of such costs as a matter of right by a prevailing party, this Court should resolve that split in favor of only allowing costs to be recovered for demonstratives that were shown to the jury and for exhibits admitted into evidence. Such a solution is not only reasonable, it is more To hold otherwise will have significant transparent and equitable. consequences to litigants-especially plaintiffs who are adverse to deeppocketed corporations with unlimited funds to drown plaintiffs with duplicative and unnecessary litigation tactics. Such a solution is not only reasonable, it is more transparent and equitable.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. <u>Trial Court: Petitioners' Motion to Tax Costs</u>

On March 14, 2019, Respondents submitted a costs bill totaling \$384,773.96. *See* Appellants' Appendix of Exhibits in Support of Opening Brief dated November 6, 2019 ("AA"), Ex. 1 (Memorandum of Costs) at 1. Appellants moved to tax certain of the costs being sought by the

Respondents, which was heard by the trial court on June 26, 2019. *See* AA, Ex. 5 (Notice of Ruling) at 131. The trial court taxed \$81,662.13 of Respondents' costs. *See id.* at 134. These taxed costs included Respondents' improperly high hotel costs for extravagant hotel stays in New York City. *See id.* at 134. They also included impermissible discovery referee fees, which comprised the bulk of the taxed costs (\$76,424.13). *See id.*

The trial court, however, refused to tax Respondents' claimed costs associated with a (i) closing argument slide deck that was almost entirely excluded from being presented to the jury and (ii) excess photocopying charges for exhibits not admitted during trial. *See id.*; *infra* at Argument § A. The costs for the almost entirely unused closing argument demonstrative slide deck amount to \$25,812.50. *See* AA, Ex. 1 (Attachment to Memorandum of Costs) at 16; *id.*, Ex. 2 (Motion to Tax Costs) at 44:13-19. The costs for the excess photocopying charges for exhibits not admitted during trial amount to \$7,913.42. *Compare* AA, Ex. 1 at 16, Ex. 2 at 43:28-44:2, & Ex. 3 at 104 fn.15 (Respondents' claimed costs for photocopying exhibits for binder is \$8,354.29) *with* AA, Ex. 2 at 72-76 & 80 (detailing the reasonable costs associated with photocopying the exhibits that were actually entered into evidence is \$440.87).

As a result of this reversible error committed by the trial court in allowing the costs for unused and excluded closing slides and excessive photocopying for exhibits not admitted during trial that amount to approximately \$33,725.92, this appeal followed after entry of the Amended Judgment on July 15, 2019.

B. <u>Court of Appeal: The Decision</u>

On June 15, 2020, the Court of Appeal affirmed the Superior Court's ruling in a published decision (the "Appellate Decision")¹ in three key respects. *First*, the Court of Appeal acknowledged the circuit split in the case law concerning the issue of whether litigants are entitled to recover photocopying fees associated with those exhibits that are not published to the jury. See Appellate Decision at 2, 5-6; compare Seever v. Copley Press, Inc. (2006) 141 Cal.App.4th 1550, 1557-58 (requiring exhibits be "reasonably helpful to aid the trier of fact" and excluding costs of exhibits not used at trial) and Ladas v. California State Automobile Assn. (1993) 19 Cal.App.4th 761, 775 (holding "fees are not authorized for exhibits not used at trial") with Applegate v. St. Francis Lutheran Church (1994) 23 Cal.App.4th 361, 364-65 (finding costs associated with unused exhibits awardable) and *Benach v*. County of Los Angeles (2007) 149 Cal.App.4th 836, 856-57 (same). It also recognized that the Code of Civ. Proc. Code § 1033.5, subdivision (a)(13) expressly allowed for the recovery of certain costs associated with exhibit photocopies and the presentation of exhibits "if they were reasonably helpful to aid the trier of fact." Appellate Decision at 5. However, the Court of

¹ A copy is attached hereto as <u>Exhibit A</u>.

Appeal, in effect, struck the limiting language of this subdivision—*i.e.*, the requirement that the exhibits be reasonably helpful to the trier of fact—by holding that the exhibits not used at trial and thus not helpful to the factfinder are nevertheless recoverable under the catchall provision located in section 1033.5, subdivision (c)(4). *See* Appellate Decision at 6.

Second, the Court of Appeal affirmed the Superior Court's ruling that allowed Respondents to recover costs associated with multiple lawyers to fly across the country and around the world to not only defend depositions, but to prepare witnesses for the depositions in person. Yet again, the Court of Appeal rested on the catch-all provision in section 1033.5, subdivision (c)(4). *See* Appellate Decision at 10-11. This reasoning swallowed the general rule regarding recovery of these deposition travel costs and opened the floodgates to allow multiple lawyers to travel and attend the depositions—despite only one of them being allowed to object on the record on behalf of their client or cross-examine the deponent.

Third, the Court of Appeal affirmed the Superior Court's ruling that allowed Respondents to recover costs associated with the interpreter fees for Respondent Motoi Oyama, who testified at trial that he could speak and read English *with ease*. *See* Appellate Decision at 11-12.² In so doing, the Court

² Petitioners do not object to the portion of the Appellate Decision concerning Mr. Tamai's interpreter costs, because unlike Mr. Oyama, it was not established that Mr. Tamai could understand English proficiently.

of Appeal held that the Superior Court did not abuse its discretion when it found that these costs were recoverable despite that section 1033.5, subdivision (a)(3)(B) requires a finding that the witness "does not proficiently speak or understand the English language." The Court of Appeal, therefore, enlarged this recoverable cost to now include those who speak English with ease, but would like an interpreter out of convenience.

No petition for rehearing with the Court of Appeal was filed.

C. California Supreme Court: Petition for Review Granted

On September 30, 2020, this Court granted Appellants' Petition for Review. The issue to be briefed and argued is limited to whether a party can recover costs for preparing multiple sets of trial exhibits and closing slides that were not used at trial. This brief on the merits followed.

ARGUMENT

A. <u>Costs For Photocopying and Demonstratives That Are Not Shown</u> to the Jury Should Not Be Recoverable.

The Code explicitly states that "[m]odels, the enlargements of exhibits and photocopies of exhibits, and the electronic presentation of exhibits, including costs of rental equipment and electronic formatting, may be allowed *if they were reasonably helpful to aid the trier of fact.*" *See Civ. Proc. Code § 1033.5(a)(13) (emphasis added).* This explicit limiting language demonstrates that this right to recovery is limited. Indeed, the Court of Appeal in *Seever v. Copley Press, Inc.* reasoned that "exhibits not used at trial" must be excluded because they "obviously could not have assisted the trier of fact." *Seever v. Copley Press, Inc. (2006) 141 Cal.App.4th 1550, 1557-58.* Moreover, the *Seever* court held that these exhibit costs could not be pursued under section 1033.5, subdivision (c)(4) as an end run around that limitation expressly stated in the Code. *See id.* at 1559-60 ("Because the Legislature has expressly stated in then subdivision (a)(12) what is allowed (exhibits used at trial that are reasonably helpful) and implicitly what is not, the discretion granted in section 1033.5, subdivision (c)(4), to award costs for items not mentioned in section 1033.5 is simply inapplicable.").

Here, there is no dispute that the vast majority of Respondents' exhibits and closing slides were not shown to the jury—and thus were not helpful. Nevertheless, the Court of Appeal held that there should be an exception related to "complicated cases" that afford the trial judge more discretion. *See* Appellate Decision at 5-6. The Court of Appeal reasoned that exhibits had to be selected in advance so it was "difficult for even the most experienced trial lawyers to divine which exhibits and demonstratives will in fact be used." *See id.* at 6. But this analysis misses the mark and ignores the limitation that is expressly set forth in the Code, opting instead

to rely on inapposite case law that is easily distinguishable.³

In its decision, the Court of Appeal waxes poetically about the efficiencies that would be saved if all of these unused items were "reasonably helpful to aid the trier of fact." *See* Appellate Decision at 7. Yet it ignores the inefficiencies that are inherent in a bloated exhibit list that contains documents in duplicate and triplicate, especially where the parties often select exhibits by putting all of their deposition exhibits on and simply dividing up the remainder of the list (*e.g.*, Plaintiff uses 101-200; Defendant has 201-300). Needless to say, like in this case, the vast majority of marked exhibits were not used (or were duplicates appearing in both Plaintiffs' and Defendants' lists).

From a policy perspective, it would be disastrous to incentivize litigants to now weaponize exhibit lists (and the costs associated with preparing them) rather than take a hard look at what evidence is actually needed and limit the recovery based on what evidence is reasonably needed to persuade the trier of fact. Moreover, using this rationale, if allowed to

³ The Court of Appeal relies primarily on a First District case that allowed the recovery of exhibit costs when plaintiff voluntarily dismissed the action on the first day of trial—and therefore none of the exhibits were shown to the jury. See Applegate v. St. Francis Lutheran Church (1994) 23 Cal.App.4th 361, 364. The Applegate court found that its case was exceptional in its finding. But, unlike here, the lack of a trial precluded the judge from invoking subdivision (a)(13). See id. (noting that the trial exhibits "were not used only because the action was dismissed by the opposing party on the day of trial").

stand, parties will start policing and objecting to the lengthy list of exhibits proffered by the other side on the eve of trial to avoid potential "prevailing party" costs, adding yet another contention to be discussed and time wasted by the Court deciding whether to chop an exhibit list as the result of a party's objection to its length.

The Court of Appeal also appears to bless a party's preparation of, but failure to use, the vast majority of closing-slide demonstratives (in this case, by Court order excluding such as irrelevant and highly prejudicial). It is, therefore, illogical for a party to successfully exclude offending closing slides from trial on the one hand, but then force that same party to now pay for the slides that even the Court agreed should not be published to the jury because they were so unhelpful and prejudicial.

The notion that advanced preparation of the materials should be a factor given any weight is also irrelevant and should be disregarded. Trials do require advanced preparation in every aspect, and such helps with trial efficiency and efficacy. However, the Court of Appeal's rationale would create a perverse incentive to litigants (especially those well-funded) to over prepare highly prejudicial, objectionable exhibits, slides and content that would never be shown to a jury in order to drive up recoverable costs. The same rationale would also allow a party to recover costs for exhibit copies made but never even used in connection with witnesses that were never called to the stand.

The Code is clear what are recoverable costs under section 1033.5, subdivision (a)(13), and Appellants respectfully request that this Court reject the temptation to sweep in all of these categories of substantial costs under a theory that any advanced preparation is conceivably helpful to the trier of fact regardless of whether it was *actually used*. Contrary to the Court of Appeal's assertions, discarded (or excluded) exhibits that clutter the cutting room floor do not promote "the more general concept of helpfulness in the form of efficiency in the trial." *See* Appellate Decision at 8. Instead, they add to inefficiencies at trial, promote motions *in limine* to exclude evidence, and disincentivize attorneys from sitting down and focusing on exactly what they intend to use at trial.

Accordingly, Petitioners contend that the rationale as set forth in *Seever* should be adopted by the Supreme Court and exhibits, demonstratives, and related items under section 1033.5, subdivision (a)(13) be recoverable only if they are published to the jury.

CONCLUSION

Although the Court of Appeal Decision recognized the current circuit split of authorities on this issue, it erred in upholding costs for exhibits and demonstratives to be recoverable even if they are not published to the jury. In so doing, it ignored the limitation expressly set forth in the Code that such need to be reasonable helpful to aid the trier of fact and created a perverse incentive to well-funded litigants to weaponize exhibit lists, refuse to narrow

10

issues and exhibit before trial, and create highly objectionable demonstratives that are inadmissible in order to drive up recoverable costs. This Court can now provide the needed guidance to the lower courts to resolve this circuit split, and create public policy that incentivizes litigants to focus and narrow their case for presentation to the trier of fact and create more efficiencies in pre-trial motions and at trial.

Accordingly, this Court should reverse the Court of Appeal's Decision and hold that exhibits, demonstratives, and related items under section 1033.5, subdivision (a)(13) be recoverable only if they are published to the jury.