No. S263569

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

MICKEY SEGAL and SIZE IT, LLC,

Plaintiffs, Appellants, and Petitioners,

v.

ASICS AMERICA CORPORATION,

ASICS CORPORATION, KEVIN WULFF,

KENJI SAKAI, MOTOI OYAMA, and KATSUMI KATO,

Defendants and Respondents.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION FOUR, CIVIL NO. B299184 SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES, CIVIL NO. BC597769

ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

SIDLEY AUSTIN LLP

JACK YEH DAVID R. CARPENTER* COLLIN P. WEDEL RARA KANG 555 West Fifth Street, Suite 4000 Los Angeles, CA 90013 (213) 896-6000 drcarpenter@sidley.com

*Lead Counsel

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS AND RESPONDENTS

INTRODUCTION						
FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND9						
	A.	Petitioners' Allegations9				
	B.	The Trial10				
	C.	ASICS' Post-Trial Cost Motion Proceedings 11				
	D.	Petitioners' Appeal of ASICS' Cost Award 12				
	E.	Petitioners' Petition for Review14				
STAI	NDAR	D OF REVIEW15				
ARGUMENT						
I.	Prep. When	livision (a)(13) Allows Costs Incurred in aring Photocopies of Exhibits or Demonstratives re "Reasonably Helpful," Without Requiring That Exhibit Be Used				
	А.	Allowing Such Costs Is Consistent with The Plain Language of Subdivision (a)(13) and the Practical Reality of How Trials Are Conducted 17				
	B.	The Interpretation Advanced by <i>Seever</i> and Petitioners Is Unsupported and Would Lead to Absurd Results				
II.	Slide	s for Unadmitted Exhibits and Unused Closing as Are Independently Recoverable In The Court's retion Under Subdivision (c)(4)				
CONCLUSION						
CERTIFICATE OF WORD COUNT						

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Applegate v. St. Francis Lutheran Church
(1994) 23 Cal.App.4th 361 16, 21, 30, 31
Benach v. County of Los Angeles (2007) 149 Cal.App.4th 836passim
Berkeley Cement, Inc. v. Regents of University of California (2019) 30 Cal.App.5th 1133 15
Chaaban v. Wet Seal, Inc. (2012) 203 Cal.App.4th 49 16, 20, 21, 25
City of Anaheim v. Dep't of Trans. (2005) 135 Cal.App.4th 526
Cummins, Inc. v. Superior Court (2005) 36 Cal.4th 478 25, 26
<i>Dyna-Med, Inc. v. Fair Employment & Housing Com.</i> (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1379
<i>Elsner v. Uveges</i> (2004) 34 Cal.4th 915
<i>Gibson v. Bobroff</i> (1996) 49 Cal.App.4th 1202 30, 31
Haraguchi v. Superior Court (2008) 43 Cal.4th 706
Haworth v. Superior Court (2010) 50 Cal.4th 372
Ladas v. California State Automobile Association (1993) 19 Cal.App.4th 761

LAOSD Asbestos Cases (2018) 25 Cal.App.5th 1116 16, 19, 25
People v. Chism (2014) 58 Cal.4th 1266 15, 29
Regents of University of California v. Superior Court (1970) 3 Cal.3d 529 17
Ripley v. Pappadopoulos (1994) 23 Cal.App.4th 1616
Seever v. Copley Press, Inc. (2006) 141 Cal.App.4th 1550passim
Smith v. Superior Court (2006) 39 Cal.4th 77
Southern California Gas Co. v. Flannery (2016) 5 Cal.App.5th 476 15
Winston Square Homeowner's Ass' v. Centex West, Inc. (1989) 213 Cal.App.3d 282 30
Woosley v. California (1992) 3 Cal.4th 758
Statutes
Code Civ. Proc., § 1032, subd. (b) 15, 28
Code Civ. Proc., § 1033.5
Code Civ. Proc., § 1033.5, subd. (a)passim
Code Civ. Proc., § 1033.5, subd. (a)(3)(A)
Code Civ. Proc., § 1033.5, subd. (a)(3)(B)
Code Civ. Proc., § 1033.5, subd. (a)(8)
Code Civ. Proc., § 1033.5, subd. (a)(9)
Code Civ. Proc., § 1033.5, subd. (a)(13)passim

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

MICKEY SEGAL and SIZE IT, LLC,

Plaintiffs, Appellants, and Petitioners,

v.

ASICS AMERICA CORPORATION, ASICS CORPORATION, KEVIN WULFF, KENJI SAKAI, MOTOI OYAMA, and KATSUMI KATO,

Defendants and Respondents.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION FOUR, CIVIL NO. B299184 SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES, CIVIL NO. BC597769

ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUE PRESENTED

May a party recover costs for preparing multiple sets of trial exhibits and closing slides that were not used at trial?

INTRODUCTION

Trials are complex. The parties must be ready to present witnesses and evidence at a moment's notice to ensure that the trial proceeds as efficiently as possible. Given how difficult it is to predict the order of witnesses and evidence—or even whether they will be needed at all—parties commonly prepare copies of all exhibits and demonstratives that might be needed. In many cases, Local Court rules or case management orders *require* that the parties exchange copies of exhibits before the final pretrial conference or trial. While some copies of some exhibits do not ultimately get used, having them ready avoids wasting the court's and the jury's time with disruptive pauses whenever an unexpected exhibit or demonstrative needs to be retrieved and prepared.

This case was no exception. At the trial court's direction, both sides prepared full sets of all exhibits and demonstratives that might be used. The parties then proceeded to put on a complex jury trial under extreme time pressures. After the jury returned a verdict for Defendants (collectively "ASICS"), the court found that the parties' preparation of the exhibit binders and other materials had been "reasonably helpful"—the statutory prerequisite for reimbursing such costs under Code of Civil Procedure section 1033.5, subdivision (a)(13)—and allowed ASICS to recover those costs as a prevailing party. The Court of Appeal agreed and unanimously affirmed.

This Court should affirm the decisions of the courts below, and make clear that section 1033.5 gives trial courts authority to award costs for preparing photocopies of exhibits and demonstratives where reasonably helpful, without requiring that each exhibit or demonstrative be used at trial.

First, the decision below is consistent with the plain meaning and purpose of the statute. Subdivision (a)(13) allows costs for "[m]odels, the enlargement of exhibits and photocopies of exhibits, and the electronic presentation of exhibits . . . if they were reasonably helpful to aid the trier of fact." (Code Civ. Proc., § 1033.5, subd. (a)(13).) That language is broad and inclusive. It specifically enumerates the items at issue in this appeal—photocopies, demonstratives, and electronic presentations—and does not premise recovery for preparing such modes of presentation on whether an individual exhibit was used. Rather, if a trial court finds it "reasonably helpful" for the parties to prepare such items in advance such as in the form of binders with copies of each potential exhibit for the court's and witnesses' use—it may award a prevailing party the reasonable costs incurred in preparing them, regardless of whether each underlying exhibit ultimately is admitted. While Petitioners contend that allowing such costs will encourage wasteful practices, the statute gives trial courts discretion to strike costs to that are not "reasonably necessary" or "reasonable in amount." (Code Civ. Proc., § 1033.5, subd. (c)(2), (3).)

Petitioners argue that copies and demonstratives of unused exhibits can *never* be "helpful" to the trier of fact, relying on a single, unsupported sentence from one intermediate appellate decision, *Seever v. Copley Press, Inc.* (2006) 141 Cal.App.4th 1550. The majority of appellate courts to consider the issue, including the court of appeal below, have refused to follow *Seever*, and for good reason. *Seever*'s position disregards the statute, undermines the trial court's discretion, and ignores the reality that preparing copies of ultimately unused exhibits and demonstratives often is quite helpful—as the trial court here expressly found—because it encourages litigants to be prepared and helps trials to run smoothly. *Seever*'s holding is also impractical because, among other things, it would require prevailing parties to undergo the extremely burdensome task of counting the number of pages of exhibits that were and were not used at trial, so as to allocate portions of their photocopying invoices—a task that in many cases would exceed the costs of the photocopies themselves.

Second, such costs are independently recoverable as an exercise of the court's discretion under section 1033.5's catch-all provision, subdivision (c)(4). Courts have recognized that subdivision (c)(4) provides discretion to allow costs that are neither expressly allowed nor expressly disallowed, and courts have long used this provision to award costs in response to activities ordered by the trial court, or that are part of routine practice and are reasonably necessary to prepare or present the case for trial. Petitioners again rely on *Seever* to oppose this basis for recovery, but they overlook that when the legislature intended to prohibit or limit costs, it did so plainly. Nothing in section 1033.5, subdivision (a) or (b) implies a bar on trial court's discretion to award costs where photocopying was reasonably necessary (including where it was required by Local Rules or ordered by the court), even if not all of the exhibits are actually used at trial.

Accordingly, the Court should affirm the decision below and disapprove of *Seever*.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. Petitioners' Allegations

Petitioners alleged that the former CEO of ASICS America, at a cocktail party, fraudulently induced them to invest in a retail venture doing business with ASICS America. In addition to suing ASICS America and its former CEO, Petitioners sued its Japanese parent company, ASICS Corporation, and individuals in Japan.

The ensuing litigation was contentious, and involved thousands of pages of briefing, more than half-a-million pages of produced documents, subpoending dozens of parties, and engaging the services of a discovery referee for more than seven months to resolve discovery disputes. (See, e.g., AA 6-14, 29.)¹

B. The Trial

On January 29, 2019, a 10-day jury trial began on Petitioners' fraud claim. The parties sharply disputed the relevant issues and documents, requiring ASICS to prepare a broad defense. The parties jointly marked more than 1,500 potential trial exhibits and identified at least 20 witnesses each. (RA 25-117; RA 6-8.) Pursuant to the trial court's procedures, the parties were required to prepare copies of all potential exhibits. (RA 245.)

Once trial began, Petitioners failed to follow their own time estimates for calling witnesses to the stand. That meant that Petitioners did not rest until the ninth day of the 10-day trial. (See RA 12-13, 18-19, 123-125, 130-134, 139.) After Petitioners rested, ASICS had less than two days left to put on its case-in-chief. Because the court was scheduled to be dark after the 10th trial day, moreover, ASICS was warned it would risk a mistrial if it had not

¹ In this brief, "AA" refers to Appellant's Appendix of Exhibits in Support of Opening Brief, "RA" to Respondents' Appendix, "OBM" to Opening Brief on the Merits, "RT" to Reporter's Transcript, and "Opn." to the Court of Appeal's June 15, 2020 opinion.

rested its case before then. (RA 138.) That timing made ASICS' coordination of witnesses and exhibits extremely difficult, and required having out-of-state and foreign witnesses and interpreters on standby for days, in addition to having ready the exhibits necessary for cross-examining and impeaching Petitioners' witnesses. By the end, twelve witnesses were called to testify (nine by Petitioners before they rested), and over 200 exhibits of the roughly 1,500 marked exhibits were introduced. (RA 173; see also RA 297.)

After closing arguments, the jury rendered a complete defense verdict for all Defendants. (RA 142.)

C. ASICS' Post-Trial Cost Motion Proceedings

As the prevailing party, ASICS submitted a verified Memorandum of Costs on March 14, 2019, seeking approximately \$380,000 in reasonable and necessary costs incurred, a fraction of what ASICS had expended to defend against this action. (AA 1-29.) On March 29, 2019, Petitioners moved to tax nearly 85% of ASICS' claimed costs. (AA 31-48.) ASICS opposed Petitioners' motion and submitted hundreds of pages of documentation supporting each category of costs claimed. (AA 90-110; RA 150-192.)

On June 26, 2019, after briefing and argument, the Superior Court rejected Petitioners' request to tax costs associated with photocopying exhibits marked for trial and creating closing demonstrative slides. (AA 134 [incorporating the court's tentative ruling by reference, except as to one category, interpreter fees]; RA 318-319 [tentative ruling at 4-5].) The court explained that it would "permit recovery of the costs for exhibit binders as reasonably helpful to aid the trier of fact (CCP § 1033.5, subd. (a)(13)) as part of the parties' presentation of the case to the jury," and that it found that "costs of preparation of demonstrative boards and slides are recoverable, even if only portions were utilized, because Defendants' counsel may not have foreseen that the entirety of such demonstratives would not be utilized." (RA 319.)

At the hearing on the motion to tax, the trial court elaborated on why it was allowing recovery for the cost of preparing exhibit binders, even though most exhibits were not used:

You prepare for trial you may determine that some exhibits on the fly are important and others are not, but you have to be fully prepared, you have to have all the binders, you have to have everything copied.

(RT 10:21-25.) The trial court repeated the point later in the colloquy with respect to the demonstratives: "[w]hen you prepare, you don't know what evidence is going to come up, you don't know what you're going to need for cross-examination. You're working on the fly, and being overprepared is not a sin in this instance." (RT 13.) The trial court emphasized that "[w]e had time constraints" to complete the trial before an alternate juror became unavailable, and the court was not going to "parse through" everything on the motion to tax when having the photocopies and demonstratives was reasonably helpful and necessary. (RT 12-14.)

D. Petitioners' Appeal of ASICS' Cost Award

Petitioners appealed the trial court's decision as to copying and demonstrative costs along with a few other categories of costs not at issue here.² On June 15, 2020, in a published decision, the Court of Appeal, Second District, Division Four, affirmed the trial court's ruling in full. On the issue of copying costs, the Court of Appeal acknowledged "a split in authority" over whether costs related to exhibits ultimately not used at trial are recoverable. (Opn. 2, 5.). Echoing the trial court's observation, it concluded that such costs may indeed be awarded because "having well-prepared counsel is 'reasonably helpful to aid the trier of fact'—the test for cost recovery under the statute." (*Id.* at p. 2.)

In particular, the Court of Appeal explained that the "interpretation of section 1033.5, subdivision (a)(13) must reflect the reality of how complicated cases are tried." (Opn. 6.) Among other things, "[g]iven that trials are unpredictable, . . . it is difficult for even the most experienced trial lawyers to divine which exhibits and demonstratives will in fact be used. Consequently, it is in counsels' (and their clients') interests to come to trial with copies of all exhibits and demonstratives reasonably anticipated for use in hand." (*Ibid*.) Such preparation is "especially important in lengthy jury trials, where common courtesy and respect for the jurors' time and sacrifice requires that courts adopt policies and procedures to expedite the proceedings." (*Id*. at p. 7.)

² The photocopying and demonstrative costs added up to \$34,000. Other issues on appeal below were travel expenses for ASICS' counsel to attend the depositions of witnesses in Japan and deposition and trial interpreter fees for Japanese witnesses who lacked English proficiency. Although Petitioners petitioned for review of those categories, too, this Court limited the issues to solely the recovery of costs for unused exhibits and demonstratives.

As the Court explained, "[e]xhibit binders allow trials to proceed more quickly." (Opn. 7.) Thus, the Court explained, "[e]ven if the binders contain exhibits never offered or admitted at trial, their preparation facilitates trial proceedings and helps avoid wasting the jurors' time." (*Ibid.*) It is similarly helpful to have "all possible closing argument demonstratives at the ready" so that "[c]ounsel can close immediately after the last witness has testified, rather than requiring dead time while counsel prepares." (*Id.* at p. 8.) As the Court emphasized, "the jurors' time is precious," and it is important for courts and lawyers to follow practices that streamline the proceedings and keep the trial on schedule. (*Ibid.*)

Accordingly, the Court of Appeal concluded that it would not "read into the statute allowing costs a restriction which has not been placed there. [Citation.]" (Opn. 8.) It explained that "[t]he meaning of the phrase 'reasonably helpful to the trier of fact' is broader than the limited notion of helpfulness in the specific task of finding facts, and encompasses as well the more general concept of helpfulness in the form of efficiency in the trial in which the trier of fact is asked to perform that task." (*Id.* at pp. 8-9.) Consequently, it held that "costs incurred in preparing models, blowups, and photocopies of exhibits may be awarded under section 1033.5, subdivision (a)(13), even if these materials were not used at trial," and "[f]or the same reasons, . . . these costs may be awarded under section 1033.5, subdivision (c)(4)." (*Id.* at p. 9.)

E. Petitioners' Petition for Review

Petitioners petitioned for review. This Court granted review limited to the single question of whether a party may recover costs for preparing multiple sets of trial exhibits and closing slides that were not used at trial.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Review of an award of costs after trial is generally for abuse of discretion. (*Berkeley Cement, Inc. v. Regents of Univ. of Cal.* (2019) 30 Cal.App.5th 1133, 1139; *Southern California Gas Co. v. Flannery* (2016) 5 Cal.App.5th 476, 485.) To the extent the issue requires statutory construction to determine whether a particular category of costs are authorized, de novo review applies. (*Berkeley Cement, Inc., supra,* 30 Cal.App.5th at p. 1139.) This Court can affirm the decision below on any ground supported by the record. (*People v. Chism* (2014) 58 Cal.4th 1266, 1295, fn. 12.)

ARGUMENT

"[A] prevailing party is entitled as a matter of right to recover costs in any action or proceeding" (Code Civ. Proc., § 1032, subd. (b)), so long as the costs are authorized by Code of Civil Procedure section 1033.5, and are "reasonably necessary to the conduct of the litigation" and "reasonable in amount." (Code Civ. Proc., § 1033.5, subd. (c)(2)-(3).) As relevant here, subdivision (a)(13) provides that "[m]odels, the enlargement of exhibits and photocopies of exhibits, and the electronic presentation of exhibits may be allowed if they were reasonably helpful to aid the trier of fact." (Code Civ. Proc., § 1033.5, subd. (a)(13).) In addition, subdivision (c)(4) is a catch-all provision that gives trial courts discretion to allow or deny costs for additional items that are not "mentioned" as allowed in subdivision (a) nor disallowed in subdivision (b). (Code Civ. Proc., § 1033.5, subd. (c)(4).) A number of intermediate appellate courts have addressed these provisions as they apply to photocopies of exhibits that were not themselves used at trial. The majority of those courts—including the decision below—have found that such photocopying costs may be allowed either under subdivision (a)(13), or under the catch-all provision in subdivision (c)(4). (See *LAOSD Asbestos Cases* (2018) 25 Cal.App.5th 1116, 1124; *Chaaban v. Wet Seal, Inc.* (2012) 203 Cal.App.4th 49, 59; *Benach v. County of Los Angeles* (2007) 149 Cal.App.4th 836, 856-857; *Applegate v. St. Francis Lutheran* Church (1994) 23 Cal.App.4th 361, 363-364.) Petitioner, in contrast, relies on *Seever* for a categorical rule that, if an exhibit was not used at trial, costs relating to it are never recoverable.

The Court should side with the decision below and disapprove of *Seever*. Under the plain language and purpose of section (a)(13), a trial court has authority to allow costs for photocopies of exhibits or other similar methods of facilitating the presentation of evidence at trial, regardless of whether each exhibit ultimately is admitted. Alternatively, such costs may be allowed in the trial court's discretion pursuant to subdivision (c)(4).³

³ The issue argued to the Court of Appeal and as presented in this Court is solely one of statutory interpretation—whether the trial court had authority to award costs—and not whether the trial court abused its authority or discretion. Thus, if the Court answers the statutory question in ASICS' favor, it must affirm the cost judgment. In any event, the trial court did not abuse its discretion for the reasons set forth above.

I. Subdivision (a)(13) Allows Costs Incurred in Preparing Photocopies of Exhibits or Demonstratives Where "Reasonably Helpful," Without Requiring That Each Exhibit Be Used.

A. Allowing Such Costs Is Consistent with The Plain Language of Subdivision (a)(13) and the Practical Reality of How Trials Are Conducted.

1. "In construing a statute," the Court's "fundamental task is to ascertain the Legislature's intent so as to effectuate the purpose of the statute." (*Smith v. Superior Court* (2006) 39 Cal.4th 77, 83.) The Court "begin[s] with the language of the statute, giving the words their usual and ordinary meaning," and construing the language "in the context of the statute as a whole and the overall statutory scheme." (*Ibid.*, internal quotation mark and citations omitted). If the language is subject to more than one interpretation, the Court will "choose the construction that comports most closely with the Legislature's apparent intent, endeavoring to promote rather than defeat the statute's general purpose, and avoiding a construction that would lead to absurd consequences." (*Ibid.*) In other words, the Court should choose a construction that makes the statute "workable and reasonable." (*Regents of Univ. of Cal. v. Superior Court* (1970) 3 Cal.3d 529, 536-537.)

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